

## Spring 2018

## **Reports of the Auditor General of Canada** to the Parliament of Canada

## **Independent Auditor's Report**

## **REPORT 6**

Employment Training for Indigenous People— **Employment and Social Development Canada** 





## Spring 2018

# Reports of the Auditor General of Canada to the Parliament of Canada

## **Independent Auditor's Report**

## **REPORT 6**

Employment Training for Indigenous People— Employment and Social Development Canada

#### Performance audit reports

This report presents the results of a performance audit conducted by the Office of the Auditor General of Canada under the authority of the *Auditor General Act*.

A performance audit is an independent, objective, and systematic assessment of how well government is managing its activities, responsibilities, and resources. Audit topics are selected based on their significance. While the Office may comment on policy implementation in a performance audit, it does not comment on the merits of a policy.

Performance audits are planned, performed, and reported in accordance with professional auditing standards and Office policies. They are conducted by qualified auditors who

- · establish audit objectives and criteria for the assessment of performance,
- gather the evidence necessary to assess performance against the criteria,
- · report both positive and negative findings,
- · conclude against the established audit objectives, and
- make recommendations for improvement when there are significant differences between criteria and assessed performance.

Performance audits contribute to a public service that is ethical and effective and a government that is accountable to Parliament and Canadians.

The Report is available on our website at www.oag-bvg.gc.ca.

Ce document est également publié en français.

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, as represented by the Auditor General of Canada, 2018.

Cat. No. FA1-27/2018-1-6E-PDF ISBN 978-0-660-26284-0 ISSN 2561-3421 (Print) ISSN 2561-343X (Online)

## **Table of Contents**

Introduction	1
Background	1
Focus of the audit	3
Findings, Recommendations, and Responses	4
Program results	4
Employment and Social Development Canada did not collect the necessary data or define performance indicators as needed to determine whether its training programs met their overall objective	5
The Department did not use the data it collected to improve its programs	8
The Department did not allocate Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy funding on the basis of current needs	12
Program management	15
The Department supported agreement holders to deliver services but did not provide sufficient labour market information	15
The Department did not consistently monitor agreement holders	19
Conclusion	23
About the Audit	24
List of Recommendations	28

## **Introduction**

## **Background**

## Training programs for Indigenous people

- 6.1 Many Indigenous people face barriers to sustained employment, such as living in isolated communities and having low levels of education. They experience high unemployment rates and low average earnings, and often lack job stability. In 2007, the unemployment rate for Indigenous people was just under 11%. In comparison, it was just under 6% among non-Indigenous Canadians. By 2017, these unemployment rates had increased to just over 11% and just over 6%, respectively. Many Indigenous people need training and support to build the skills they need to find and keep jobs.
- 6.2 **Employment and Social Development Canada.** Employment and Social Development Canada funds programs to help Canadians develop skills for employment and improve their workforce mobility. The Department prioritizes skill development for groups that are underrepresented in the workforce, such as Indigenous people.
- 6.3 The Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund. Since the early 1990s, the Department has funded programs to help Indigenous people (First Nations, Métis, and Inuit) improve their skills and find employment. Successive programs have maintained the same focus. In 2010, the Department launched its two current programs: the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund.
- 6.4 The Strategy provides funding for the delivery of training and employment support to Indigenous clients to increase their participation in the Canadian labour market and ensure that they are engaged in sustainable and meaningful employment. The Fund is intended to complement the Strategy, but is project driven in an effort to take advantage of emerging economic development opportunities in sectors such as natural resources.
- 6.5 Despite this difference, the Strategy and the Fund have the same overall objective, and the services eligible under each are the same (Exhibit 6.1). We refer to the Strategy and the Fund collectively as "the programs" throughout this report except where specifically named.

Exhibit 6.1 The Strategy and the Fund share an overall objective and provide funding to Indigenous agreement holders

Program	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy	Skills and Partnership Fund
Overall objective	To increase Indigenous participation in the Canadian labour market, ensuring that First Nations, Métis, and Inuit people are engaged in sustainable, meaningful employment.	
Delivery method	Ongoing delivery of services to clients	Project-based delivery of services to clients
Funding	Department provides contribution funding annually, as set out in contribution agreements for up to five years.	Department issues requests for proposals. Successful applicants receive funding through contribution agreements for up to five years.
Initial program dates (fiscal years)	From 2010–11 to 2014–15	
Program extensions (fiscal years)	2015–16 and 2016–17 to 2017–18	2015–16 and 2016–17 to 2020–21
Number of active agreement holders as of March 2018	86	49
Number of active sub-agreement holders (Strategy) or sub-projects or agreements (Fund) as of March 2018	347	19
Estimated total program funding from the 2010–11 to 2017–18 fiscal years	\$2.4 billion	\$0.3 billion
Source: Employment and Social Development Canada		

6.6 In the early 1990s, the Department began devolving the design and delivery of labour market programs to Indigenous organizations. Under the current programs, the Department does not provide services directly to clients. Instead, it enters into contribution agreements with Indigenous organizations (called "agreement holders" in this report) for up to five years, funding them to provide services to clients. Agreement holders across the country provide services to First Nations, Métis, and Inuit clients in urban, rural, remote, and northern locations. Many of the current agreement holders also provided services to clients under the previous programs.

- 6.7 Under the Strategy, agreement holders can deliver services directly to clients or enter into sub-agreements with other Indigenous organizations to deliver services on their behalf. Under the Fund, agreement holders may put in place sub-projects or agreements with third parties to help deliver training and employment support to Indigenous clients.
- 6.8 The agreement holders determine and provide the specific skill development and training services their clients need to enter and stay in the labour force. While some clients need minimal training, others face multiple challenges and may require several services to prepare them for employment. In addition to occupational skills training, services eligible under the programs include client assessments, employment counselling, essential skills development, and wage subsidies to encourage employers to hire clients.
- 6.9 The Department expects agreement holders to provide services that are based on market demand for specific types of labour. Agreement holders set their own targets, such as the number of clients they expect to serve and the number they expect will find jobs after receiving services. Under the terms of their contribution agreements, agreement holders are required to report to the Department on the success of their services versus these targets.
- 6.10 Under the programs, the Department approves funding to the agreement holders and provides guidance, information, and training to support them in delivering services to clients. The Department is responsible for monitoring the agreement holders' use of program funds, for measuring and reporting program results, and for adjusting the programs as necessary.
- 6.11 The Department also funds provinces and territories to provide labour market programs to their residents. Indigenous people are eligible for these as well. Some other federal organizations offer similar programs, but Employment and Social Development Canada is the major source of government funding for these types of initiatives.

## Focus of the audit

6.12 This audit focused on whether Employment and Social Development Canada managed the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund to increase the number of Indigenous people getting jobs and staying employed. Specifically, we analyzed the Department's actions to implement, monitor, report on, and improve the programs.

- 6.13 This audit is important because employment is vital to the well-being of people across Canada, including Indigenous people, who face more barriers to employment than the general population does. Given the federal government's large investment in these programs, it is important to measure the effect they have on the employment of Indigenous people.
- 6.14 We did not examine the Department's financial management of the programs. Nor did we examine the First Nations and Inuit Child Care Initiative, which is delivered by the Strategy's agreement holders but is a separate program. Finally, we did not audit other labour market programs funded by the Department or by other federal organizations.
- 6.15 More details about the audit objective, scope, approach, and criteria are in **About the Audit** at the end of this report (see pages 24–27).

## Findings, Recommendations, and Responses

## **Program results**

#### Overall message



- 6.16 Overall, we found that Employment and Social Development Canada did not collect the data or define the performance indicators necessary to demonstrate whether the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund were meeting their common overall objective of increasing the number of Indigenous people who had sustainable and meaningful employment. This is despite the fact that the Department has been delivering programs to support Indigenous employment for almost 30 years.
- 6.17 We also found that the Department allocated funding to agreement holders under the Strategy primarily on the basis of data from 1996 that did not reflect the current needs of the populations served. Moreover, the Department did not reallocate funding to the individual agreement holders who had been more consistently successful in training clients and helping them get jobs.
- 6.18 These findings matter because unemployment rates for Indigenous people are markedly higher than for the general Canadian population. The Department has allocated significant funds to the programs. Collecting adequate data and defining performance indicators would allow the Department to determine whether the programs are leading to meaningful and sustainable employment and whether changes are needed.

Employment and Social Development Canada did not collect the necessary data or define performance indicators as needed to determine whether its training programs met their overall objective

#### What we found

- 6.19 We found that Employment and Social Development Canada could demonstrate that the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund had helped some clients find employment. However, we also found that the Department did not have information about the nature of those jobs (for example, whether they were part-time or full-time). It also did not measure how long clients stayed employed.
- 6.20 Our analysis supporting this finding presents what we examined and discusses the following topics:
  - Performance measurement strategies
  - Performance indicators and targets
  - Reporting program results

### Why this finding matters

6.21 This finding matters because Indigenous people fare poorly in the labour market compared with other Canadians. Measuring and reporting on whether its programs increase the sustainable and meaningful employment of Indigenous people would allow the Department to demonstrate the programs' value and make improvements where needed.

#### Recommendation

6.22 Our recommendation in this area of examination appears at paragraph 6.32.

## Analysis to support this finding

- 6.23 **What we examined.** We examined how the Department measured and reported on the results of the programs. We analyzed the programs' performance indicators and targets. We also assessed the Department's external reporting on program results. Finally, we assessed how the Department used performance information to improve the programs and their delivery.
- 6.24 **Performance measurement strategies.** The Department developed a performance measurement strategy for each of the programs to measure and report on results. However, we found that the Department did not fully implement these strategies. For example, the Department said it would survey agreement holders annually to assess whether it was adequately supporting them to deliver services under the Strategy. It also said it would prepare internal reports annually to inform senior management about the performance of key aspects of the Strategy, such as efforts to help increase the capacity of agreement holders. However, the Department did not fulfill either of these commitments.

- 6.25 **Performance indicators and targets.** The Department's performance measurement strategies for the programs contained many performance indicators: 30 for the Strategy and 10 for the Fund. The Department considered 3 indicators to be particularly important for both programs and required all agreement holders to measure them. These 3 key indicators were
  - the number of clients served,
  - the number of clients who found employment after receiving services, and
  - the number of clients who returned to school after receiving services.

6.26 We found that the Department had targets for the number of clients who found employment after receiving services (Exhibit 6.2). For example, under the Strategy, the Department's target was for 14,000 to 16,500 clients to find employment each year. However, we found that the Department did not establish targets for nearly half of the remaining performance indicators under the Strategy, including its third key indicator (the number of clients who returned to school). However, the Department did establish targets for the remaining indicators under the Fund.

**Exhibit 6.2** Employment and Social Development Canada established performance targets for two of the programs' three key indicators

	Targets established by the Department by program		
Key performance indicator	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy	Skills and Partnership Fund	
Number of clients served	60,000	80% of the total targeted by agreement holders	
Number of clients employed	14,000–16,500 annually	1,600 annually on average (8,000–10,000 for each five-year term of the program)	
Number of clients who returned to school	No target established	No target established	
Source: Employment and Social Development Canada			

6.27 The Department based its employment targets on the results of the Indigenous labour market programs it had in place before 2010. However, we found that it did not revisit the targets to ensure that they were still relevant, given changes in the programs and other factors, such as changing economic conditions, between 2010 and 2017.

- 6.28 Notably, we found that the Department had not clearly defined its employment indicator. It viewed all employment outcomes as the same, regardless of their nature or duration. For example, it counted any employment obtained after receiving services as a successful outcome, whether the work was short-term, seasonal, part-time, or full-time. A short-term job could lead to sustainable employment eventually. However, because the Department did not clearly define employment, it could not use the information that agreement holders reported about this indicator to measure how successful the programs were in helping clients find sustainable, meaningful employment after receiving services.
- 6.29 Similarly, although the Department defined what it meant for a client to return to school, its guidance to agreement holders indicated that they could count as successful those clients who were already in school when they began receiving services and who simply needed help making a career choice or gaining work experience. As these clients may have remained in school if they had not received services, the Department's results for the return-to-school indicator were not helpful in demonstrating the difference the services made. Measuring the results this way might also suggest a higher level of success than the programs actually achieved.
- 6.30 Finally, we found that the Department did not measure its performance against several key targets it had established. For example, in 2011, the Department committed to measuring how long clients who had received services under the Strategy stayed employed after finding work. However, the Department had never measured how long clients of either program remained employed after receiving services, or whether their employment was full-time or part-time.
- 6.31 **Reporting program results.** Given the significant limitations in the Department's implementation of the performance measurement strategies for the programs, the Department could not meaningfully report on their performance. Although the Department publicly reported employment results for most years for the Strategy and for three years for the Fund, the numbers it reported did not indicate whether clients had found sustainable employment.
- 6.32 **Recommendation.** Employment and Social Development Canada should, in collaboration with Indigenous organizations, measure and report on whether the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund increase the number of Indigenous people who have sustainable and meaningful employment. It should do so by fully implementing its performance measurement strategies for the programs, including clearly defining performance indicators and targets.

The Department's response. Agreed. The 2015 Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and Skills and Partnership Fund evaluation demonstrated positive short-term labour market outcomes for program participants, such as increased earnings and employment. Although limited by a short post-implementation assessment period, this work benefited from previous Indigenous program evaluations showing continued increased employment and earnings five years after training.

As part of Canada's commitment to reconciliation and a renewed relationship with Indigenous peoples, Employment and Social Development Canada is working in close collaboration with Indigenous partners to effectively deliver and transform its Indigenous labour market programming to support the strengthening of Indigenous communities.

The Department recognizes the importance of meaningful reporting on results that effectively captures the impact of supports Indigenous organizations provide to clients. Additional performance indicators will allow Employment and Social Development Canada and Indigenous partners to regularly assess program impacts and the longer-term outcomes of the program.

A new performance measurement strategy with strengthened outcomes, indicators, and clearly defined targets will be developed with Indigenous organizations for the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program and implemented in April 2019. This will include enhanced reporting on post-program results using existing information on employment and income.

The strategy for the Skills and Partnership Fund will include defined performance indicators and targets. This will result in better information for all parties.

## The Department did not use the data it collected to improve its programs

### What we found

- 6.33 We found that the Department did not use the data it collected from agreement holders to improve its programs as needed to help Indigenous people find sustainable and meaningful employment. Nor did the Department ensure that the data the agreement holders provided on whether clients found jobs after receiving services was complete, or confirm the accuracy of most of this data.
- 6.34 Our analysis supporting this finding presents what we examined and discusses the following topics:
  - Data completeness and accuracy
  - Data analysis
  - Program evaluation

#### Why this finding matters

6.35 This finding matters because the Department requires useful data to demonstrate that its investment in the programs is achieving the intended results, and to make changes to improve the programs.

#### Recommendation

6.36 Our recommendation in this area of examination appears at paragraph 6.45.

## Analysis to support this finding

- 6.37 **What we examined.** We examined the completeness of the data the Department collected from agreement holders and what the Department did to ensure the data's accuracy. We also examined whether the Department analyzed the data to improve the programs.
- 6.38 **Data completeness and accuracy.** Under contribution agreements, the Department required agreement holders to provide quarterly data on clients, including information on their barriers to employment, what services they received under the programs, and whether they subsequently got a job or went back to school.
- 6.39 We found that the Department did not make sure that all agreement holders provided data on the results their clients had achieved after receiving services. Some agreement holders consistently failed to report their results. Since 2011, four of the agreement holders had reported less than 50% of their results to the Department. Moreover, our analysis of the data indicated that the Department did not know whether 22% of all clients who had received services under the programs since 2010 actually found a job or went back to school.
- 6.40 We also found that, although the Department had identified problems with data accuracy in the past, it did not confirm the accuracy of most of the data the agreement holders provided about whether clients found jobs. While the Department used Employment Insurance data to verify whether clients were employed, it was able to do so for only about 10% of the programs' clients. Consequently, the Department had no way of confirming whether most of the programs' clients were actually successful in finding jobs.
- 6.41 **Data analysis.** We also found that the Department did not analyze program data to identify trends, problems, or good practices that could guide agreement holders to improve their services and results. This represents a lost opportunity for the Department.
- 6.42 Therefore, we analyzed the data to determine whether it contained information that would be useful in managing the program. We identified several issues that, in our view, merit further analysis by the Department.

For example, we found that the **wage subsidy** was the most expensive service on average, averaging more than \$7,000 per use. Between the 2010–11 and 2016–17 fiscal years, the Department spent approximately \$130 million on this service. We also found that more than 900 clients received this service more than once. The level of funding for this service and its repeated use by some clients raises questions about whether clients who received this service continued to be employed after the wage subsidy ended, or were more likely to find future employment elsewhere compared with those who did not receive the subsidy. Without knowing this, Employment and Social Development Canada cannot be sure whether the programs are helping clients find sustainable employment or only subsidizing employers without benefiting clients over the longer term.

6.43 Our analysis also uncovered other areas that, in our view, the Department should have investigated:

- Since the 2010–11 fiscal year, about 35,000 clients (16%) received five or more services. This might not necessarily be problematic, as certain clients may face multiple barriers to employment and require multiple services. However, without measuring the results of specific services, the Department could not tell whether these clients were making progress in finding and maintaining employment.
- Clients were more likely to have successful outcomes after receiving certain services. We found that, of the more than 12,000 clients who received apprenticeship training since the 2010–11 fiscal year, 54% subsequently found employment, although the Department had no data to indicate how long the employment lasted. Almost 26,000 clients received academic upgrading services in order to obtain the high school credits or academic qualifications needed to pursue further post-secondary instruction or training. However, only 28% actually pursued further education or training. This suggests that the Department needs to further analyze the relative usefulness of specific services under the programs to determine whether certain ones need to be emphasized.
- In a given year, the proportion of Strategy clients who found employment after receiving services ranged from 1% for some agreement holders to 100% for others. Even though the Department did not confirm most employment outcomes, this suggests that certain agreement holders could benefit from additional support from the Department, while others may have best practices they could share.

**Wage subsidy**—A service designed to encourage employers to hire program clients to provide them with work experience and/or on-the-job training. The employer receives a wage subsidy (normally capped at 50% for private sector employers) to hire the client for a specific length of time, with the objective of providing the client with sufficient skills to find employment at the end of this time, with either the same employer or another.

This type of analysis could have helped the Department determine whether the services funded by its programs were in fact working and suggested areas where additional analyses were warranted.

- 6.44 **Program evaluation.** Treasury Board policy requires the Department to evaluate the programs every five years. The Department reported its evaluation of the Strategy and the Fund in 2015. However, because of the lack of data, the Department used some results from its previous Indigenous training programs to evaluate the results of the current programs. This means that the results of the 2015 evaluation were not a good measure of the current programs' success in helping clients find sustainable employment. Given what we have found about data verification and completeness, the next evaluation of the programs (scheduled to be completed in 2020) is at risk of having similar problems. The Department has been delivering similar Indigenous labour market programs since the 1990s. Up to now, it has missed the opportunity to collect and analyze the data required to determine whether its programs are achieving their overall objective.
- 6.45 **Recommendation.** Employment and Social Development Canada should ensure that it has the information it needs to improve the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund, where necessary, by working in collaboration with agreement holders to identify, collect, confirm, and analyze program data.

The Department's response. Agreed. Employment and Social Development Canada is committed to producing analysis of medium- to long-term labour market outcomes for Indigenous employment programs, and will continue to work with Indigenous partners to enhance data collection and analysis to guide policy directions and program decisions. Recent exploratory analysis using existing program data indicated positive results for Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy participants in terms of employment, earnings, and labour market attachment, and demonstrated the capability to replicate this analysis.

The 2015 Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and Skills and Partnership Fund evaluation reported that program data can effectively support the analysis of sustainable, long-term outcomes for program participants. Employment and Social Development Canada will use the most recent program data to further assess long-term impacts on participants and support the design and delivery of the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program. The Department will continue to work in collaboration with Indigenous organizations to collect, confirm, and analyze relevant data to improve the program.

As part of the Performance Measurement Strategy for the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program, the Department will work with partners to ensure that relevant and timely data is captured to support reporting on outcomes and impacts for Indigenous labour market programming. This enhanced approach will be implemented by April 2019.

Improvements resulting from this new approach will be applied to the Skills and Partnership Fund as appropriate.

## The Department did not allocate Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy funding on the basis of current needs

#### What we found

6.46 We found that Employment and Social Development Canada allocated funding to agreement holders under the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy on the basis of 1996 population and socio-economic data that did not reflect the current needs of the populations served. Also, the Department had not updated the formula it used to allocate funding under the Strategy since the formula was established in 1999. We also found that the Department did not consider individual agreement holders' past performances when it allocated funding, as a means of redistributing funds to agreement holders that had demonstrated the capacity to achieve better results.

6.47 Our analysis supporting this finding presents what we examined and discusses the following topics:

- Funding formula for the Strategy
- Duplication among programs

#### Why this finding matters

6.48 This finding matters because, if the information used in the funding formula for the Strategy is outdated, the Department's funding allocations will not reflect regional needs, which could limit agreement holders' ability to succeed.

### Recommendations

6.49 Our recommendations in this area of examination appear at paragraphs 6.56 and 6.59.

## Analysis to support this finding

- 6.50 **What we examined.** We examined whether the Department updated the funding formula for the Strategy, as it had committed to doing in 2009. We also assessed how the Department used performance information to adjust funding allocations to improve program results under the Strategy. We examined whether the Department assessed the extent of overlap between its Indigenous labour market programs and programs offered by other federal, provincial, and territorial organizations.
- 6.51 **Funding formula for the Strategy.** When the Department introduced the Strategy in 2010, it allocated funds to agreement holders in accordance with the 1999 funding formula that it had used for the program that preceded the Strategy. It referred to this formula as the National Aboriginal Resource Allocation Model. The 1999 formula was

needs-based and directed more resources to regions where there were more Indigenous people with greater training needs. The formula used population and socio-economic data from the 1996 Census.

- 6.52 In 2012, the Department identified several reasons why it should revisit the formula, including
  - changes in the Indigenous population since 1996,
  - a need to re-examine the variables used in the formula,
  - a need to direct funding in a way that was relevant to the Strategy's priorities, and
  - a need to simplify and increase the transparency of the funding calculations.

The Department further stated that, without an up-to-date formula, it lacked a credible basis for its funding decisions for the Strategy.

- 6.53 We found that the Department tried to update its funding formula in 2014, but could not reach consensus with agreement holders on what changes to make. Any changes to the formula would have increased funding for some agreement holders and decreased funding for others.
- 6.54 This means that the Department allocated funding to agreement holders as recently as the 2017–18 fiscal year on the basis of data that was more than 20 years old. According to the Department, some regions received a higher percentage of the program funds than current information would support, while others received a lower percentage. For example, the Department calculated that, had it based its funding allocations on information from the 2011 National Household Survey, it would have increased funding in Ontario by 6% and decreased funding in British Columbia and Prince Edward Island by 7% and 47%, respectively.
- 6.55 The Department also had the authority to adjust funding to agreement holders in response to their past performances. However, we found that the Department did not consider the results achieved by individual agreement holders when deciding how to allocate Strategy funding, either initially in 2010 or during renewals. The funding amounts for agreement holders stayed largely the same year after year, regardless of the results they achieved or of changing demand for workers in the areas they served.
- 6.56 **Recommendation.** Employment and Social Development Canada should allocate funding under the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy in accordance with current needs and the capacities of individual agreement holders to achieve results. This should include
  - updating the funding formula,
  - using up-to-date population and socio-economic data, and
  - considering past performance of individual agreement holders.

The Department's response. Agreed. Budget 2018 announced new, incremental funding to reduce the employment and skills gap between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples, based on updated socio-economic and demographic data.

As part of the co-development of the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program, the Department will engage with Indigenous partners to determine the approach to allocating new funding, to be implemented by April 2019.

This will be done using a distinctions-based approach, by First Nations, Métis, Inuit, and urban/non-affiliated Indigenous peoples, facilitating an increased role for Indigenous leadership. Funding will also respond to partner requests for building greater capacity for service delivery providers.

Finally, funding allocation will take into account relevant considerations to ensure effectiveness and fairness, including that service providers serve different populations with varying needs, both in terms of the clientele served and differing labour market conditions.

- 6.57 **Duplication among programs.** In 2016, the Department identified a risk that services offered under the Strategy and the Fund could overlap with each other, as well as with services under programs offered by other federal, provincial, and territorial organizations that support training for Indigenous people. This could lead to a duplication of services, confusion among agreement holders, and inefficient use of the Department's resources.
- 6.58 We found that the Department had not formally assessed the extent to which the Strategy and the Fund duplicated services. This is problematic because the services that agreement holders provided under the Strategy and the Fund were identical and, in some cases, agreement holders under the two programs operated in the same region. However, we found that the Department took initial steps to address the risk of service overlap with other federal departments, provinces, and territories by liaising with them to promote coordination for specific projects. The Department had also begun an analysis of the labour market programs offered by other jurisdictions (to better understand possible risks), but had not yet completed this work.
- 6.59 **Recommendation.** Employment and Social Development Canada should conduct the analysis necessary to determine whether its Indigenous labour market programs overlap with each other. The Department should also complete work to determine whether its labour market programs overlap with those offered by other federal, provincial, and territorial organizations. The Department should also take the necessary steps to address any identified areas of overlap.

**The Department's response.** Agreed. Employment and Social Development Canada acknowledges that the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund both

seek to provide skills development and job training opportunities to Indigenous people. These programs were purposely designed to be complementary, to support Indigenous communities to build human capital to respond to project-based and demand-driven opportunities.

On an ongoing basis, including through the work of established federal, provincial, and territorial forums, the Department monitors labour market programs to ensure complementarity and avoid duplication across programming delivered by other federal departments or by provinces and territories.

As part of its ongoing efforts to ensure complementarity across programming, the Department will continue to undertake analysis of existing programs to determine if there are any areas of duplication and to identify opportunities for improvements before the implementation of the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program in April 2019.

## **Program management**

### Overall message



- 6.60 Overall, we found that Employment and Social Development Canada supported agreement holders by providing them with guidance, information sessions, and administrative direction. It also worked with agreement holders to reduce their administrative burden. However, the Department did not provide agreement holders with sufficient labour market information to help them determine which services they should provide to clients to help them prepare for and find available jobs.
- 6.61 We also found that the Department did not consistently monitor agreement holders to know whether they fulfilled their obligations under contribution agreements. In particular, the Department did not ensure that agreement holders adequately monitored the other Indigenous organizations with which they had sub-agreements to provide services to clients on their behalf.
- 6.62 These findings matter because agreement holders need good labour market information to help them determine which services to provide to clients. Moreover, consistent monitoring of agreement holders can help the Department understand how it could further support agreement holders to deliver services.

The Department supported agreement holders to deliver services but did not provide sufficient labour market information

### What we found

6.63 We found that Employment and Social Development Canada supported agreement holders through regular discussions, information sessions, and help with specific administrative issues. We also found that

the Department reduced the burden on agreement holders by lightening some of the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy's administrative requirements. However, we found that the Department did not have the labour market information relevant to Indigenous people that the agreement holders needed, and that its current plan to get that information would take several years to produce results.

6.64 Our analysis supporting this finding presents what we examined and discusses the following topics:

- Guidance to agreement holders
- Labour market information
- Administrative burden

### Why this finding matters

6.65 This finding matters because providing clear guidance to agreement holders may help them deliver services to better meet the programs' overall objective. Agreement holders need current and detailed labour market information to offer training that prepares their clients for jobs that are in demand. Support from the Department is particularly important for organizations with limited capacity.

#### Recommendations

6.66 Our recommendations in this area of examination appear at paragraphs 6.73 and 6.76.

## Analysis to support this finding

6.67 **What we examined.** We examined whether the Department supported agreement holders by providing guidance, administrative direction, and labour market information.

6.68 **Guidance to agreement holders.** We found that the Department supported agreement holders by providing formal guidance on the programs and templates to help them meet their reporting requirements. We also found that Department officials worked with agreement holders to help them develop business and operational plans and to help them ensure that funding proposals contained all the required information. Department officials told us that the nature and amount of its support depended on agreement holders' needs.

6.69 We also found that the Department provided support to agreement holders by holding information sessions on topics such as revised reporting requirements and best practices in program implementation. However, the Department offered these sessions intermittently, and the capacity limitations of some agreement holders suggested that additional sessions would have been helpful to them.

6.70 **Labour market information.** The Department has known since 2010 that it did not have sufficient labour market information about

Indigenous communities. In particular, the Department identified a lack of up-to-date, on-reserve labour market information to support program design, service delivery, and decision making.

- 6.71 In 2011, the Department began providing agreement holders with national and regional economic information, including unemployment rates and information related to various employment sectors. However, in our opinion, most of this information was too general to be of use to individual agreement holders. Department officials told us that in mid-2017, the Department began providing agreement holders with information from its Temporary Foreign Worker Program about sectors where workers were in demand, so that agreement holders could consider targeting their services to these areas; the Department also included a section for Indigenous job seekers in the federal Job Bank website.
- 6.72 In the 2016–17 fiscal year, the Department also launched a six-year, \$12 million pilot project to train Indigenous organizations to collect data and develop a skills inventory on a small portion of the on-reserve population. The Department told us that as of March 2018, 13 agreement holders under the Strategy had volunteered to participate in the pilot. The project's timelines mean that it will not be completed until 2022. As a result, it will not produce significant change in the information available for several years.
- 6.73 **Recommendation.** Employment and Social Development Canada, in collaboration with Indigenous organizations, should identify and provide labour market information that individual agreement holders need to align their services with demand in the labour market for their particular regions.

The Department's response. Agreed. The Department recognizes the importance of providing timely, detailed labour market information to Indigenous organizations so that they can design and deliver programming according to their community needs.

One way the Department will improve labour market information sharing with Indigenous partners is by leveraging data from the Job Bank to support training and job placements. The Department is working to link jobs available on the Job Bank directly with Indigenous organizations. This work will be implemented by April 2019.

The Department will further improve available labour market information through an extended survey pilot, beginning in April 2018, to test processes and tools to improve the level of detail and frequency of labour market information for on-reserve communities. The annual results of the survey and skills inventory will be used to inform program design and better tailor client interventions to labour market demand.

- 6.74 **Administrative burden.** We noted that the Department did not always make use of the information that it required agreement holders to provide. For example, program officers explained that they reviewed the annual reports that all agreement holders were required to submit under the Strategy, but they were not required to compile this information to find out how the program was working at the regional or national level. In 2011, the Department committed to using the information in these annual reports to assess what was working well in the partnerships that agreement holders formed to deliver services. However, the Department never did this.
- 6.75 During consultations for the renewal of the Strategy, various Indigenous organizations expressed a desire to reduce the administrative burden imposed by the program. In June 2016, the Department established the Program Delivery Improvement Working Group with members from the Department's headquarters, regional offices, and agreement holder organizations. The working group's mandate was to review issues related to the administration and delivery of the Strategy and develop recommendations that the Department could implement for the 2017–18 fiscal year, the third extension year of the program. For that year, the Department reduced the detail required from agreement holders in the plans they submitted to obtain funding, eliminated the requirement for them to submit annual reports, and eliminated the Department's mid-year monitoring activity.
- 6.76 **Recommendation.** Employment and Social Development Canada, in collaboration with Indigenous organizations, should assess how the changes it has made to reporting requirements have affected the agreement holders' administrative burden and the Department's ability to manage the programs. It should also make any required adjustments.

The Department's response. Agreed. Employment and Social Development Canada has already taken concrete steps in consultation with Indigenous organizations to reduce administrative burden. The Department will continue this collaborative effort and will assess the impact of previous changes in order to further improve the delivery of the programs.

As part of co-development of implementation of the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program, Employment and Social Development Canada will work with Indigenous partners to assess further changes to reporting requirements to streamline activity and financial reporting as part of new funding agreements to be implemented in April 2019.

Applicable findings will be considered for the Skills and Partnership Fund.

### The Department did not consistently monitor agreement holders

#### What we found

6.77 We found that while Employment and Social Development Canada established a system to monitor agreement holders to ensure they fulfilled their obligations under their contribution agreements, the Department did not consistently meet these monitoring requirements. Moreover, the Department did not use the information gathered during its monitoring activities to determine how it could improve the programs; nor did it adequately address the risks related to the agreement holders' use of sub-agreements with other organizations to deliver some services on their behalf.

6.78 Our analysis supporting this finding presents what we examined and discusses the following topics:

- Monitoring of agreement holders
- · Oversight of sub-agreement holders
- Program officer training

### Why this finding matters

6.79 This finding matters because without sufficient monitoring, the Department cannot acquire the information it needs to adjust the programs or help organizations best serve their clients.

### Recommendations

6.80 Our recommendations in this area of examination appear at paragraphs 6.86 and 6.94.

## Analysis to support this finding

6.81 What we examined. We examined the requirements that the Department established for its monitoring of agreement holders and how it ensured these were met. This included looking at how Department officials determined whether agreement holders were adequately monitoring their sub-agreement holders. We also examined how officials communicated the results of monitoring activities to senior management and the actions taken in response. Some of our findings relate specifically to the examination work we did in the Department's Western and Territories Region, which had the greatest number of agreement holders.

6.82 **Monitoring of agreement holders.** The Department's program officers were required to conduct three types of monitoring activities:

- Financial monitoring—verifies that an agreement holder's financial records are complete and accurately reflect the terms and conditions of the agreement.
- Activity monitoring—verifies that an agreement holder's activities are proceeding as stated in the agreement, are addressing any

- potential difficulties, and are supporting the agreement holder in achieving the results it expects.
- Results monitoring—verifies whether an agreement holder is
  achieving the desired results from the funding provided by the
  Department. This type of monitoring looks at the bigger picture
  and verifies whether the agreement holder is on track to achieve
  the overall expected results and contribute to the program's objective.
  Program officers identify any issues that may affect overall progress
  and success, such as timelines, resources, activities, and milestones.

The Department assessed the risk related to each contribution agreement to determine the frequency of monitoring required.

6.83 We found that the Department did not always complete the three monitoring activities within the required timelines. As a result, the Department missed opportunities to help agreement holders improve their services in a timely manner. According to the Department's tracking, its compliance with conducting financial and activity monitoring had improved, but neither program was fully compliant with the monitoring requirements (Exhibit 6.3).

Exhibit 6.3 The Department improved the timeliness of its financial and activity monitoring

	Proportion of financial and activity monitoring completed on time		Proportion of results monitoring completed on time	
Fiscal years	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy	Skills and Partnership Fund	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy	Skills and Partnership Fund
From 2010–11 to 2014–15	The Department did not track whether these monitoring activities were done on time.			
2015–16	36% 43%		The Department did not results-monitoring activ	
2016–17	64%	64% 72%		
2017–18*	95%	50%		
	95% 50% 2017–18 fiscal year were reported as of 30 September 2017.			

<sup>6.84</sup> We also found that the Department did not track whether program officers conducted results-monitoring activities on time. In our opinion, this was problematic, as one purpose of results monitoring was to help the Department determine whether agreement holders were contributing to the programs' overall objective.

6.85 Furthermore, we found that the Department did not use the information it gathered through monitoring agreement holders to explore ways to improve program delivery or to identify systemic issues requiring

Source: Employment and Social Development Canada

attention and best practices to share with Department officials or agreement holders. Yet this was one of the Department's responsibilities under the programs.

6.86 **Recommendation.** Employment and Social Development Canada should complete all required monitoring of agreement holders within the required timelines and use the resulting information to adjust the contribution agreements and overall programs as necessary.

**The Department's response.** Agreed. The Department currently carries out significant monitoring activities in order to manage agreements and support Indigenous organizations. Information currently gathered from these monitoring activities is used to adjust projects as required in order to achieve the expected results.

The monitoring results will also be used by the Department, in consultation with Indigenous partners, to adjust the program as well as the risk management and monitoring framework.

An updated risk management model will be implemented by April 2019 for the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program. The updated model will consider appropriate risk mitigation strategies, including monitoring, client capacity building, and internal resources.

Applicable findings will be considered for the Skills and Partnership Fund.

- 6.87 **Oversight of sub-agreement holders.** Many of the agreement holders used sub-agreements with other organizations to deliver services under the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy. Some offered services in remote locations where the agreement holders did not have a presence. As with the agreement holders, sub-agreement holders were required to be Indigenous organizations. As of the 2017–18 fiscal year, 34 agreement holders had entered into a total of 347 sub-agreements. Of these 34 agreement holders, 15 had 10 or more sub-agreements each.
- 6.88 The Department determined that insufficient monitoring of sub-agreements by program officers was a problem. The Department required program officers to review the clauses in the draft sub-agreements, to keep a signed copy of all sub-agreements on file, to visit each sub-agreement holder at least once, and to ensure that agreement holders were adequately monitoring their sub-agreement holders. However, as of June 2016, the Department's tracking indicated that only 48% of sub-agreements for delivering services under the Strategy were on file. The Department has not since carried out any additional tracking to determine whether this has improved.
- 6.89 We examined the Department's tracking of site visits by program officers to sub-agreement holders in its Western and Territories Region. Regional officials tracked whether the required site visits had occurred. By September 2015, the Department tracked that program officers had

visited almost all of the sub-agreement holders. The officials confirmed they had not tracked site visits to sub-agreement holders since.

- 6.90 We found that the Department had no mechanism by which to learn whether agreement holders had entered into new sub-agreements, whether agreement holders had effectively monitored their sub-agreement holders, or whether program officers had fulfilled all of their related responsibilities, such as visiting any new sub-agreement holders. As a result, the Department did not know whether it was adequately addressing the risks related to the use of sub-agreements, such as insufficient monitoring by the agreement holder.
- 6.91 We also found that the Department provided a checklist to program officers to help them ensure that sub-agreements included the necessary clauses. Programs officers were to use this checklist to ensure that sub-agreements were consistent with program requirements. However, we noted that the Department had not established a way to find out whether this checklist was consistently used or whether agreement holders addressed any deficiencies noted by program officers.
- 6.92 These findings are particularly concerning given that some agreement holders with documented capacity challenges also had sub-agreements with other Indigenous organizations to administer. However, under the Department's risk management approach, there was no requirement for Department staff to visit sub-agreement holders more than once in cases where capacity issues had been identified.
- 6.93 Finally, we noted that the contribution agreements gave the Department the authority to audit the sub-agreement holders. We found that the Department had not conducted any audits of sub-agreement holders in the Western and Territories Region. Furthermore, Department officials indicated that the Department did not track the monitoring or auditing of sub-agreements.
- 6.94 **Recommendation.** Employment and Social Development Canada should more fully assess the risks related to sub-agreement holders, identify a strategy to address any identified risks, and implement the required changes.

The Department's response. Agreed. Employment and Social Development Canada collaborates with Indigenous organizations in the design and delivery of labour market programs based on the understanding that they are best placed to meet the unique needs of their communities and clients. Supporting Indigenous organizations in developing their capacity to manage the agreements, including sub-agreements, is a priority.

Employment and Social Development Canada recognizes the importance of assessing risk factors, including the use of sub-agreements, and of putting in place supports and mitigation strategies to assist Indigenous organizations in achieving results. Monitoring is undertaken in accordance

with the current Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy Program agreement requirements.

Joint work is under way with Indigenous organizations to understand the challenges associated with the use of sub-agreements and to explore roles and accountabilities in their management. The results from this work will inform the development of a revised risk model for the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program that will ensure clear accountabilities for both Employment and Social Development Canada and Indigenous organizations by April 2019.

The revised model will consider the capacity of Indigenous organizations to monitor sub-agreements. Where necessary, additional support measures will be deployed for those Indigenous organizations requiring monitoring assistance, strengthening the capacity of the Indigenous organizations to achieve success.

Applicable findings will be considered for the Skills and Partnership Fund.

- 6.95 **Program officer training.** According to the Department, the Strategy and the Fund were complex programs. Department program officers were required to administer high-dollar-value, multi-year contribution agreements that covered various types of services. They also had to work closely with the agreement holders, some of which had capacity challenges and were in remote locations. The Indigenous communities they worked with were also culturally diverse and had varying approaches to education and employment.
- 6.96 We found gaps in the Department's training for program officers who delivered the programs. For example, while there was mandatory training on grants and contributions as of September 2016, the Department did not address some of the specific requirements related to the Strategy. The Department made training available to program officers on how to manage relationships with agreement holders and monitor sub-agreements, but this training was limited, and it was not mandatory. Addressing these gaps could help program officers monitor agreement holders more effectively.

## **Conclusion**

6.97 We concluded that Employment and Social Development Canada's management of the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund was not sufficient to demonstrate that these programs increased the number of Indigenous people getting jobs and staying employed.

## **About the Audit**

This independent assurance report was prepared by the Office of the Auditor General of Canada on Employment and Social Development Canada's Indigenous labour market programs, including the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund. Our responsibility was to provide objective information, advice, and assurance to assist Parliament in its scrutiny of the government's management of resources and programs, and to conclude on whether the Department's Indigenous labour market programs complied in all significant respects with the applicable criteria.

All work in this audit was performed to a reasonable level of assurance in accordance with the Canadian Standard for Assurance Engagements (CSAE) 3001—Direct Engagements set out by the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada (CPA Canada) in the CPA Canada Handbook—Assurance.

The Office applies Canadian Standard on Quality Control 1 and, accordingly, maintains a comprehensive system of quality control, including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards, and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

In conducting the audit work, we have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the relevant rules of professional conduct applicable to the practice of public accounting in Canada, which are founded on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality, and professional behaviour.

In accordance with our regular audit process, we obtained the following from Employment and Social Development Canada management:

- confirmation of management's responsibility for the subject under audit;
- acknowledgement of the suitability of the criteria used in the audit;
- confirmation that all known information that has been requested, or that could affect the findings or audit conclusion, has been provided; and
- confirmation that the audit report is factually accurate.

### **Audit objective**

The objective of this audit was to determine whether Employment and Social Development Canada managed the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund to increase the number of Indigenous people getting jobs and staying employed.

### Scope and approach

The audit focused on the Department's two Indigenous labour market programs: the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund. The audit examined the Department's management of these programs, including its actions to maximize their results. We analyzed the Department's actions to implement, monitor, report on, and improve the programs. We did not conduct an analysis of the Department's financial management of the programs.

We conducted audit work within the Department's Skills and Employment Branch and Program Operations Branch. This included interviews with officials, documentation and file review, and data analysis. Detailed audit work was also conducted in the Department's Western and Territories Region. This Region accounts for most of the spending under the Strategy and roughly half of the projects that the Department has approved under the Fund. We focused our examination of sub-agreements on those under the Strategy—as opposed to those sub-projects or agreements under the Fund—because the former program included the vast majority of sub-agreement holders. We visited three offices within the Region during the audit, at which we interviewed officials and reviewed files related to the agreements the Region administered.

During the course of our audit, we also interviewed agreement holders about their experiences with the Department and the programs.

We conducted an analysis of the data on program clients that agreement holders had reported to the Department since 1 April 2010.

The audit scope did not include an examination of

- the First Nations Job Fund, an Indigenous labour market program within the Department that ended on 31 March 2017;
- the First Nations and Inuit Child Care Initiative, a separate program delivered through the contribution agreements under the Strategy; or
- other labour market programs delivered by the Department or other federal government organizations.

### **Criteria**

Criteria	Sources	
To determine whether Employment and Social Development Canada managed the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund to increase the number of Indigenous people getting jobs and staying employed, we used the following criteria:		
Employment and Social Development Canada provides adequate support to the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund agreement holders to help them design and deliver services that meet the objective of these programs.	<ul> <li>Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy Performance Measurement Strategy, Employment and Social Development Canada</li> <li>Skills and Partnership Fund Performance Measurement Strategy, Employment and Social Development Canada</li> <li>Evaluation of the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund, Employment and Social Development Canada, 2015</li> <li>Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy Operations Manual, Employment and Social Development Canada</li> </ul>	

Criteria	Sources	
To determine whether Employment and Social Development Canada managed the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund to increase the number of Indigenous people getting jobs and staying employed, we used the following criteria: (continued)		
Employment and Social Development Canada ensures that it allocates funding consistent with the objective and requirements of the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy Performance Measurement Strategy, Employment and Social Development Canada     Skills and Partnership Fund Performance	
Partnership Fund.	Measurement Strategy, Employment and Social  Development Canada	
	Skills and Partnership Fund—Terms and Conditions for Contributions, Employment and Social Development Canada	
	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy Terms and Conditions for Contributions, Employment and Social Development Canada	
	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy Operations Manual, Employment and Social Development Canada	
Employment and Social Development Canada monitors	Policy on Transfer Payments, Treasury Board	
agreement holders to ensure that they provide services according to key requirements.	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy Performance Measurement Strategy, Employment and Social Development Canada	
	Skills and Partnership Fund Performance     Measurement Strategy, Employment and Social     Development Canada	
	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy Operations Manual, Employment and Social Development Canada	

Criteria	Sources	
To determine whether Employment and Social Development Canada managed the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund to increase the number of Indigenous people getting jobs and staying employed, we used the following criteria: (continued)		
Employment and Social Development Canada collects	Policy on Results, Treasury Board	
information to measure the short-term and long-term results of the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund, adjusts	Policy on Management, Resources and Results Structures, Treasury Board	
the programs as appropriate, and publicly reports the	Policy on Transfer Payments, Treasury Board	
results achieved.	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy Performance Measurement Strategy, Employment and Social Development Canada	
	Skills and Partnership Fund Performance     Measurement Strategy, Employment and Social     Development Canada	
	Skills and Partnership Fund—Terms and Conditions for Contributions, Employment and Social Development Canada	
	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy Terms and Conditions for Contributions, Employment and Social Development Canada	
	Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy     Operations Manual, Employment and Social     Development Canada	

## Period covered by the audit

The audit covered the period between 1 April 2010 and 31 December 2017. This is the period to which the audit conclusion applies. However, to gain a more complete understanding of the subject matter of the audit, we also examined certain matters that preceded the starting date of this period.

## Date of the report

We obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on which to base our conclusion on 27 March 2018, in Ottawa, Canada.

### **Audit team**

Principal: Glenn Wheeler Director: Maria Pooley

Sébastien Bureau Adnan Hakim

## **List of Recommendations**

The following table lists the recommendations and responses found in this report. The paragraph number preceding the recommendation indicates the location of the recommendation in the report, and the numbers in parentheses indicate the location of the related discussion.

Recommendation	Response
Program results	
Development Canada should, in collaboration with Indigenous organizations, measure and report on whether the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund increase the number of Indigenous people who have sustainable and meaningful employment. It should do so by fully implementing its performance measurement strategies for the programs, including clearly defining performance indicators and targets. (6.19–6.31)	The Department's response. Agreed. The 2015 Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and Skills and Partnership Fund evaluation demonstrated positive short-term labour market outcomes for program participants, such as increased earnings and employment. Although limited by a short post-implementation assessment period, this work benefited from previous Indigenous program evaluations showing continued increased employment and earnings five years after training.  As part of Canada's commitment to reconciliation and a renewed relationship with Indigenous peoples, Employment and Social Development Canada is working in close collaboration with Indigenous partners to effectively deliver and transform its Indigenous labour market programming to support the strengthening of Indigenous communities.
	The Department recognizes the importance of meaningful reporting on results that effectively captures the impact of supports Indigenous organizations provide to clients. Additional performance indicators will allow Employment and Social Development Canada and Indigenous partners to regularly assess program impacts and the longer-term outcomes of the program.
	A new performance measurement strategy with strengthened outcomes, indicators, and clearly defined targets will be developed with Indigenous organizations for the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program and implemented in April 2019. This will include enhanced reporting on post-program results using existing information on employment and income.
	The strategy for the Skills and Partnership Fund will include defined performance indicators and targets. This will result in better information for all parties.

### Recommendation Response

**6.45** Employment and Social Development Canada should ensure that it has the information it needs to improve the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund, where necessary, by working in collaboration with agreement holders to identify, collect, confirm, and analyze program data. **(6.33–6.44)** 

**The Department's response.** Agreed. Employment and Social Development Canada is committed to producing analysis of medium- to long-term labour market outcomes for Indigenous employment programs, and will continue to work with Indigenous partners to enhance data collection and analysis to guide policy directions and program decisions. Recent exploratory analysis using existing program data indicated positive results for Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy participants in terms of employment, earnings, and labour market attachment, and demonstrated the capability to replicate this analysis.

The 2015 Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and Skills and Partnership Fund evaluation reported that program data can effectively support the analysis of sustainable, long-term outcomes for program participants. Employment and Social Development Canada will use the most recent program data to further assess long-term impacts on participants and support the design and delivery of the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program. The Department will continue to work in collaboration with Indigenous organizations to collect, confirm, and analyze relevant data to improve the program.

As part of the Performance Measurement Strategy for the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program, the Department will work with partners to ensure that relevant and timely data is captured to support reporting on outcomes and impacts for Indigenous labour market programming. This enhanced approach will be implemented by April 2019.

Improvements resulting from this new approach will be applied to the Skills and Partnership Fund as appropriate.

**6.56** Employment and Social Development Canada should allocate funding under the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy in accordance with current needs and the capacities of individual agreement holders to achieve results. This should include

- · updating the funding formula,
- using up-to-date population and socio-economic data, and
- considering past performance of individual agreement holders.

(6.46-6.55)

**The Department's response.** Agreed. Budget 2018 announced new, incremental funding to reduce the employment and skills gap between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples, based on updated socio-economic and demographic data.

As part of the co-development of the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program, the Department will engage with Indigenous partners to determine the approach to allocating new funding, to be implemented by April 2019.

This will be done using a distinctions-based approach, by First Nations, Métis, Inuit, and urban/non-affiliated Indigenous peoples, facilitating an increased role for Indigenous leadership. Funding will also respond to partner requests for building greater capacity for service delivery providers.

Finally, funding allocation will take into account relevant considerations to ensure effectiveness and fairness, including that service providers serve different populations with varying needs, both in terms of the clientele served and differing labour market conditions.

#### Recommendation

### Response

**6.59** Employment and Social Development Canada should conduct the analysis necessary to determine whether its Indigenous labour market programs overlap with each other. The Department should also complete work to determine whether its labour market programs overlap with those offered by other federal, provincial, and territorial organizations. The Department should also take the necessary steps to address any identified areas of overlap. **(6.57–6.58)** 

**The Department's response.** Agreed. Employment and Social Development Canada acknowledges that the Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy and the Skills and Partnership Fund both seek to provide skills development and job training opportunities to Indigenous people. These programs were purposely designed to be complementary, to support Indigenous communities to build human capital to respond to project-based and demanddriven opportunities.

On an ongoing basis, including through the work of established federal, provincial, and territorial forums, the Department monitors labour market programs to ensure complementarity and avoid duplication across programming delivered by other federal departments or by provinces and territories.

As part of its ongoing efforts to ensure complementarity across programming, the Department will continue to undertake analysis of existing programs to determine if there are any areas of duplication and to identify opportunities for improvements before the implementation of the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program in April 2019.

### Program management

**6.73** Employment and Social Development Canada, in collaboration with Indigenous organizations, should identify and provide labour market information that individual agreement holders need to align their services with demand in the labour market for their particular regions. **(6.63–6.72)** 

**The Department's response.** Agreed. The Department recognizes the importance of providing timely, detailed labour market information to Indigenous organizations so that they can design and deliver programming according to their community needs.

One way the Department will improve labour market information sharing with Indigenous partners is by leveraging data from the Job Bank to support training and job placements. The Department is working to link jobs available on the Job Bank directly with Indigenous organizations. This work will be implemented by April 2019.

The Department will further improve available labour market information through an extended survey pilot, beginning in April 2018, to test processes and tools to improve the level of detail and frequency of labour market information for on-reserve communities. The annual results of the survey and skills inventory will be used to inform program design and better tailor client interventions to labour market demand.

Recommendation	Response
6.76 Employment and Social Development Canada, in collaboration with Indigenous organizations, should assess how the changes it has made to reporting requirements have affected the agreement holders' administrative burden and the Department's ability to manage the programs. It should also make any required adjustments. (6.74–6.75)	The Department's response. Agreed. Employment and Social Development Canada has already taken concrete steps in consultation with Indigenous organizations to reduce administrative burden. The Department will continue this collaborative effort and will assess the impact of previous changes in order to further improve the delivery of the programs.
	As part of co-development of implementation of the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program, Employment and Social Development Canada will work with Indigenous partners to assess further changes to reporting requirements to streamline activity and financial reporting as part of new funding agreements to be implemented in April 2019.
	Applicable findings will be considered for the Skills and Partnership Fund.
<b>6.86</b> Employment and Social Development Canada should complete all required monitoring of agreement holders within the required timelines and use the resulting information to adjust the	<b>The Department's response.</b> Agreed. The Department currently carries out significant monitoring activities in order to manage agreements and support Indigenous organizations. Information currently gathered from these monitoring activities is used to adjust projects as required in order to achieve the expected results.
contribution agreements and overall programs as necessary. (6.77–6.85)	The monitoring results will also be used by the Department, in consultation with Indigenous partners, to adjust the program as well as the risk management and monitoring framework.
	An updated risk management model will be implemented by April 2019 for the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program. The updated model will consider appropriate risk mitigation strategies, including monitoring, client capacity building, and internal resources.
	Applicable findings will be considered for the Skills and Partnership Fund.

Recommendation	Response
<b>6.94</b> Employment and Social Development Canada should more fully assess the risks related to sub-agreement holders, identify a strategy to address any identified risks, and implement the required changes. <b>(6.87–6.93)</b>	The Department's response. Agreed. Employment and Social Development Canada collaborates with Indigenous organizations in the design and delivery of labour market programs based on the understanding that they are best placed to meet the unique needs of their communities and clients. Supporting Indigenous organizations in developing their capacity to manage the agreements, including sub-agreements, is a priority.
	Employment and Social Development Canada recognizes the importance of assessing risk factors, including the use of sub-agreements, and of putting in place supports and mitigation strategies to assist Indigenous organizations in achieving results. Monitoring is undertaken in accordance with the current Aboriginal Skills and Employment Training Strategy Program agreement requirements.
	Joint work is under way with Indigenous organizations to understand the challenges associated with the use of sub-agreements and to explore roles and accountabilities in their management. The results from this work will inform the development of a revised risk model for the new Indigenous Skills and Employment Training Program that will ensure clear accountabilities for both Employment and Social Development Canada and Indigenous organizations by April 2019.
	The revised model will consider the capacity of Indigenous organizations to monitor sub-agreements. Where necessary, additional support measures will be deployed for those Indigenous organizations requiring monitoring assistance, strengthening the capacity of the Indigenous organizations to achieve success.
	Applicable findings will be considered for the Skills and Partnership Fund.

## Spring 2018

## Reports of the Auditor General of Canada to the Parliament of Canada

- 1. Building and Implementing the Phoenix Pay System
- 2. Disposing of Government Surplus Goods and Equipment
- 3. Administration of Justice in the Canadian Armed Forces
- 4. Replacing Montréal's Champlain Bridge—Infrastructure Canada
- 5. Socio-economic Gaps on First Nations Reserves—Indigenous Services Canada
- 6. Employment Training for Indigenous People—Employment and Social Development Canada
- 7. Consular Services to Canadians Abroad—Global Affairs Canada

Commentary on the 2016–2018 Performance Audits of Crown Corporations

Commentary on the 2016–2017 Financial Audits

Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Board of Trustees of the Canadian Museum for Human Rights, Special Examination—2018

Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Board of Directors of the Great Lakes Pilotage Authority, Special Examination—2018

Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Board of Directors of Ridley Terminals Inc., Special Examination—2018

Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Board of Directors of Export Development Canada, Special Examination—2018